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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Jeremiah Petlig, petitioner here and appellant below, 

asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals 

decision terminating review under RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Petlig seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision 

dated August 24, 2020, attached as an appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is suppression required when a police officer 

engages in a deliberate two-step process to secure a 

confession, as required by the Fifth and Sixth Amendments 

and Article I, Section 9? 

2. Was Mr. Petlig’s right to a fair trial denied whether 

the trial court permitted the prosecutor to use evidence of Mr. 

Petlig’s pre-trial incarceration to demonstrate his 

dangerousness, in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments and Article I, Section 22? 

3. Does the prosecutor’s misconduct, by referring to 

Mr. Petlig’s pre-trial incarceration status, bolstering of his 
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testimony, denigrating defense counsel, require a new trial, in 

violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, 

Sections 3 and 22 of the state constitution? 

4. Does cumulative error warrant a new trial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Jeremiah Petlig lived with Serina Teigen. RP 1320. 

When this happened, they lived in Mr. Petlig’s RV at the New 

Hope Lutheran Church in Pacific, Washington. RP 1289. Ms. 

Teigen had diabetes, which may cause a person to go into 

shock if their insulin levels are off. RP 1295, 1229. 

Mr. Petlig told the court he was in the RV when Ms. 

Teigen left to take the dog for a walk. RP 1293. As she left, 

Mr. Petlig saw her take a stutter step. Id. He ran towards her. 

RP 1294. He grabbed her, putting his arm up around her 

shoulder. RP 1300. He did not believe his arm ever came up to 

her neck while he was holding her. RP 1345. 

Reachell Selvar and her husband were driving when 

they saw Ms. Teigen coming towards her. Ms. Selvar saw Mr. 

Petlig with his arm around Ms. Teigen, who she thought was 
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visibly upset. RP 775. She thought Mr. Petlig might have had 

his arm around Ms. Teigen’s neck, although she did not 

describe the action as strangulation. RP 778-79. 

Ms. Sevlar described an attack at the end of the 

church’s driveway. RP 922. He believed Mr. Petlig had his 

arm around Ms. Teigen’s throat and that she could not 

breathe while Mr. Petlig was holding her. RP 927. 

The only other person present was Pastor Mark Gause. 

RP 1033. He saw Mr. Petlig and Ms. Teigen move quickly in 

front of his window and then saw Mr. Petlig wrap his hands 

around Ms. Teigen’s neck area. RP 1044, 1047. 

As all of this was happening, Officer Roger Gale drove 

by the park and was flagged down. RP 1068. Over objection, 

he stated domestic violence calls are inherently dangerous. 

RP 1062. The trial court sustained the objection, but only for 

relevance. Id. He then repeated his assertion. RP 1063. 

The officer placed Mr. Petlig on his car’s bumper before 

moving him to the back of his patrol car. RP 192. Before 

Miranda, the officer asked Mr. Petlig what happened. RP 184, 
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190. He then took a statement from Ms. Teigen, in Mr. 

Petlig’s earshot. RP 197. He returned to Mr. Petlig, finally 

providing him with Miranda warnings. RP 220. He took 

another statement from Mr. Petlig. RP 222. The trial court 

suppressed the statements made before Miranda but allowed 

the prosecution to use the post-Miranda statements. RP 384. 

The government charged Mr. Petlig with assault in the 

second degree by strangulation, later adding additional 

counts for violating a no-contact order. CP 1, CP 33-35.  

Over objection, the court allowed the prosecution to use 

four jail calls to establish a domestic relationship. RP 374. 

The court also allowed the jury to hear two of the warnings 

played during the phone calls, alerting the jury that Mr. 

Petlig was in custody when the calls were made. RP 1197-98, 

1201. The court found the evidence met the standards for 

admissibility under ER 404(b). RP 404-05. 

The prosecutor focused on Mr. Petlig’s custody status 

during the trial, using the jails calls to document Mr. Petlig’s 

incarceration. RP 1443, 1448, 1455, 1457, 1460, 1490, 1493. 
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The prosecutor also asked the police officers if they had an 

interest in the outcome of the case. RP 1060, 1250. In the 

rebuttal, the prosecutor stated he could not address every 

mischaracterization by defense counsel. RP 1487. He also 

argued the reason the jurors did not see medical evidence, 

including testimony from the paramedics, was because Ms. 

Teigen had not signed a medical waiver. RP 1489. There was 

no evidence introduced about a medical waiver. 

Mr. Petlig testified. He told the jury he did not assault 

Ms. Teigen and was sure he did not strangle her. RP 1395. 

Instead, he believed Ms. Teigen was going to fall because of 

her diabetes and from her seizures. RP 1296, 1301. He never 

tried to choke her. RP 1301. 

Ms. Teigen did not appear for trial. 

The jury spent two days deliberating before reaching a 

verdict, finding Mr. Petlig guilty of the assault. RP 1525.  
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E. ARGUMENT 

1. This Court should accept review of whether a police 
officer’s deliberate two-step interrogation process 
requires suppression. 

The Court of Appeals found the state did not engage in 

a deliberate two-step interrogation process when questioning 

Mr. Petlig. Slip Op. at 6. Because this conclusion conflicts 

with opinions of the United States Supreme Court and this 

state and involves a significant question of constitutional law, 

review should be granted. RAP 13.4(b). 

A two-step interrogation works to disable a person from 

making a “free and rational choice” about speaking to the 

police. Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 608, 124 S. Ct. 2601, 

159 L. Ed. 2d 643 (2004). Like Seibert, the Court of Appeals 

had held that Miranda warnings are ineffective where they 

are given after questioning has already occurred. State v. 

Rhoden, 189 Wn. App. 193, 200, 356 P.3d 242 (2015). When 

an interrogation occurs before Miranda, statements may only 

be admitted where there is an intervening factor, such as a 

break in time or assurances that the pre-Miranda statements 
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will not be used. Rhoden, 189 Wn. App. at 200; State v. 

Hickman, 157 Wn. App. 767, 772-75, 238 P.3d 1240 (2010). 

In Seibert, the United States Supreme Court found 

Miranda ineffective where the warnings were given after the 

suspect already confessed. 542 U.S. at 604-06. Like Miranda, 

a two-step interrogation works to disable an individual from 

making a “free and rational choice” about speaking to the 

police. Id. at 608 (quoting Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 

464-65, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966)). 

Washington adopted a similar rule. In Rhoden, the 

Court of Appeals held that where Miranda warnings are given 

without a significant break in time or place and without 

measures to assure the suspect the pre-Miranda statements 

could not be used, the post-Miranda statements should also be 

excluded. Rhoden, 189 Wn. App. at 200; see also Hickman, 

157 Wn. App. at 772-75. 

In denying Mr. Petlig relief, the Court of Appeals did 

not follow its established precedent. Once the police arrived at 

the park, Mr. Petlig was first ordered to sit on the bumper of 
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the police car. RP 192. Mr. Petlig was quickly moved to the 

back seat of the officer’s car, where the officer locked him into 

the car. RP 234. Mr. Petlig was not free to leave. Id. 

Before Miranda warnings, the officer questioned Mr. 

Petlig about the fight. RP 184, 190. Mr. Petlig told the officer, 

“I just grabbed her around the shoulders.” RP 210. Mr. Petlig 

remained detained while the officer conducted his 

investigation, all within Mr. Petlig’s hearing. RP 214. 

The officer then returned to Mr. Petlig, where he finally 

gave him Miranda warnings. RP 220. The questions posed to 

him were not substantially different from the officer's original 

query. RP 225-28. At no time did the officer warn Mr. Petlig of 

his pre-Miranda statements were unlikely to be admissible. 

In Rhoden, the Court of Appeals suppressed evidence 

under similar circumstances. 189 Wn. App. At 202. Like that 

case, Mr. Petlig was detained before Miranda warnings were 

given. 189 Wn. App. at 202; RP 220. The investigation took 

place over a short time, he was not moved from the initial 

scene, and the statements made before and after warnings 
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were not substantially different. Id.; RP 236. Under these 

circumstances, the Court of Appeals should have followed its 

precedent. Id. at 248. 

The Court of Appeals’ decision is also in conflict with 

Hickman, where the Court of Appeals held that the two-step 

process employed by the police required post-Miranda 

statements to be suppressed. 157 Wn. App. at 770. Like here, 

the officer first conducted an interview, followed by Miranda 

warnings and a criminal investigation. Id. Here, the officer 

stated he did not initially warn Mr. Petlig because he was still 

investigating the crime, even though he had already 

determined Mr. Petlig was not free to leave. RP 193. Like 

Hickman, nothing separated the two parts of the 

investigation, except for the interruption to provide Mr. Petlig 

with Miranda warnings.  

The failure to provide sufficient warnings is a 

constitutional error, which requires the Court to presume 

prejudice, which is only overcome where the government 

demonstrates the error is harmless beyond a reasonable 
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doubt. State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 

(2013) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22, 87 S. 

Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)). Allowing the government to 

use these statements deprived Mr. Petlig of his state and 

constitutional rights. as guaranteed by the Fifth and Sixth 

Amendments and Article I, Section 9 of the State 

Constitution. To resolve the conflict with other cases issued 

by this Court and the United States Supreme Court and 

because this issue is constitutional, Mr. Petlig asks this Court 

to grant review. 

2. This Court should accept review of whether allowing 
the jury to know of his custodial status unfairly 
prejudiced Mr. Petlig right to a fair trial. 

This Court recently recognized the danger of allowing 

the factfinder to consider the custodial status of a person 

accused of an offense. State v. Jackson, ___ Wn.2d ___, ___, 

467 P.3d 97, 99 (2020). In Jackson, this Court held that To 

ensure the right to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution and the 

Washington State Constitution, a defendant in a criminal 
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case is entitled to appear at trial free from all bonds or 

shackles except in extraordinary circumstances. Id. (citing 

U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22.) 

Mr. Petlig asks this Court to take review of whether the 

trial court’s error in allowing the jury to know that he was 

incarcerated pre-trial was unduly prejudicial and deprived 

him of a fair trial. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals refused 

to reach the issue of whether the trial court should be allowed 

to put Mr. Petlig’s violent nature before the jury. Slip Op. at 

7. The Court of Appeals further held that the trial court did 

not err by allowing the jury to hear that the calls used to 

establish an uncontested domestic relationship originated 

from a jail. Id. at 10. This Court should take review of this 

issue. Allowing the jury to know of the custodial status of Mr. 

Petlig conflicts with Jackson’s holding that unknown risks of 

prejudice from implicit bias and how it may impair decision-

making required an individualized decision before a person 

may be shackled in court. Jackson, 467 P.3d at 104. 
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Like Jackson, this Court has recognized the dangers 

implicit in intimating a person charged with domestic 

violence is inherently dangerous. In domestic violence cases, 

there is a considerable danger a jury will put too great a 

weight on the prior act evidence and use it for an improper 

purpose. State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 925, 337 P.3d 

1090 (2014). As a result, courts must be especially vigilant in 

limiting the use of prior act evidence in domestic violence 

cases. Id. Reversal is required where the use of prior domestic 

violence evidence results in an unfair trial. Id. at 918. 

There was no overriding probative value to using jail 

phone calls to establish a domestic relationship between Mr. 

Petlig and Ms. Teigen. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 925. There 

was ample other evidence to establish the aggravator, which 

the prosecutor agreed existed. RP 375. Also, Mr. Petlig did not 

challenge this element and admitted to the relationship when 

he testified. RP 1289. 

Instead, playing to jail phone calls demonstrated Mr. 

Petlig’s dangerousness. The jury heard a message stating the 
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calls came from a correctional facility, demonstrating that Mr. 

Petlig needed to be separated from the larger community. 

State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 845, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). 

Indeed, the calls demonstrated Mr. Petlig was a dangerous 

person who the government thought to be a “high violent 

risk.” RP 1219.   

By allowing the jury to hear the jail calls, the jury 

learned of Mr. Petlig’s custody status and that he was a “high 

violent risk.” RP 1219. This prejudiced Mr. Petlig, who was 

not only now required to show he did not commit the crime 

but that he was not a highly violent person who needed to be 

incarcerated. This prejudice made it impossible for Mr. Petlig 

to establish his defense. 

This Court should accept review of whether the Court 

of Appeals erred when it did not find this error prejudiced Mr. 

Petlig’s right to a fair trial. Prior act evidence should only be 

admitted in domestic violence cases where the government 

has established an overriding probative value. Gunderson, 

181 Wn.2d at 925. This standard was not met here. Because 
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the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with the decisions of 

this Court and involves an issue of constitutional importance, 

review should be granted. RAP 13.4(b). 

3. This Court should accept review of whether the 
prosecutor’s misconduct deprived Mr. Petlig of his right 
to a fair trial. 

The Court of Appeals held the prosecutor’s misconduct 

did not prejudice Mr. Petlig. Slip Op. at 13. Because this 

decision conflicts with opinions of this Court and involves an 

issue of constitutional importance, review should be granted. 

RAP 13.4(b). 

Prosecutorial misconduct violates the “fundamental 

fairness essential to the very concept of justice.” Donnelly v. 

DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 642, 94 S. Ct. 1868, 40 L. Ed. 2d 

431 (1974); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. 

Reversal is required when a prosecutor’s misconduct affects 

the jury’s verdict. State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 440, 326 

P.3d 125 (2014). Even when it is not objected to, reversal is 

required where the misconduct is flagrant and ill-intentioned. 

In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012).  
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a. It was misconduct to allow the jury about the 
inherent danger of domestic violence calls. 

The Court of Appeals recognized the danger of singling 

out a person as dangerous but attempted to distinguish the 

misconduct here from other opinions. Slip op. at 15. Rather 

than applying State v. Mullin-Coston, the Court opined that it 

only applied when a person was singularly identified. Id. 

(citing Mullin-Coston, 115 Wn. App. 679, 693, 64 P.3d 40 

(2003), aff’d, 152 Wn.2d 107 (2004)). 

The Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard. As 

this Court recognized in Jackson, it is the government's 

burden to demonstrate that procedures that identify a person 

as dangerous are necessary. 467 P.3d at 104. Singling out Mr. 

Petlig as particularly dangerous threatened his right to a fair 

trial. Because this misconduct, in conjunction with the court’s 

other rulings alerting the jury to Mr. Petlig’s custody status, 

prevented Mr. Petlig from receiving a fair trial, this Court 

should grant review to uphold Mr. Petlig’s right to a fair trial.  
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b. It was misconduct to bolster the officer’s testimony. 

The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Petlig did not meet 

his burden of showing that the question to the officer 

prejudice him. Slip Op. at 16. This Court should grant review 

because this misconduct also deprived Mr. Petlig of his right 

to a fair trial. 

At trial, the prosecutor asked the arresting officer: “Do 

you have any personal stake in the outcome of this case?” and, 

“Aside from wanting to do your job well, do you have any 

personal stake in the outcome of this case as to whether or 

not this jury finds [Mr. Petlig] guilty?” RP 1060, 1250. 

The government may not bolster an officer’s good 

character. State v. Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 293, 183 P.3d 

307 (2008) (holding that the government bolstered an officer’s 

good character by referring to his integrity and honesty).  

By asking the officer whether he had an interest in the 

outcome of the case, the prosecutor committed similar 

misconduct. Rather than have the jury evaluate the testimony 

through a critical lens, they were assured that what the 
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officer told them was more truthful than other witnesses, as 

they were only assured of the officer’s neutrality. This 

misconduct prevented Mr. Petlig from receiving a fair trial. 

This Court should accept review to correct this error. 

c. It was misconduct to denigrate counsel. 

At the beginning of the rebuttal argument, the 

government told the jury it could not address every 

mischaracterization by defense counsel. RP 1487. The Court 

of Appeals held that this misconduct was not so ill-

intentioned and flagrant as to deprive Petlig of a fair trial. 

Slip Op. at 17. This Court has held otherwise, recognizing 

that denigrating the role of defense counsel or their 

arguments is ill-intentioned misconduct. State v. Thorgerson, 

172 Wn.2d 438, 451, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Because it deprived 

Mr. Petlig of his right to a fair trial, review should be granted. 

d. The cumulative effect of the misconduct also 
deprived Mr. Petlig of his right to a fair trial. 

“[T]here comes a time ... when the cumulative effect of 

repetitive prejudicial error becomes so flagrant that no 

instruction or series of instructions can erase it and cure the 
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error.” State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 73, 298 P.2d 500 (1956). 

Cumulative misconduct warrants reversal, even if each error 

standing alone would be considered harmless. State v. Weber, 

159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 252 (2006). When there is a 

substantial likelihood the prosecution’s improper arguments 

affected the outcome of the trial, reversal is required. 

Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 440. Because the cumulative effect of 

the prosecutor’s misconduct in this close case deprived Mr. 

Petlig of his right to a fair trial, review should be granted. 

4. This Court should accept review of whether the cumulative 
effect of the error at Mr. Petlig trial requires reversal. 

The Court of Appeals did not find that the cumulative 

error doctrine required reversal. Slip Op. at 18. This Court 

should accept review to hold otherwise and find that the 

errors, individually and cumulatively, deprived Mr. Petlig of 

his right to a fair trial and order reversal of his conviction. 

U.S. Const. amend. XIV, Const. art. I, § 3; Williams v. Taylor, 

529 U.S. 362, 396-98, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 146 L. Ed. 2d 389 

(2000); State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 150-51, 822 P.2d 

1250 (1992). 
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F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the preceding, Mr. Petlig respectfully requests 

that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). 

DATED this 23rd day of September 2020. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
TRAVIS STEARNS (WSBA 29335) 
Washington Appellate Project (91052) 
Attorneys for Appellant
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
 

Respondent,  
 

  v. 
 
JEREMIAH JAMES PETLIG, 
 

Appellant.  
 

 
No. 79225-3-I 
 
DIVISION ONE 
 
 
UNPUBLISHED OPINION 
 
 

 

CHUN, J. — The State accused Jeremiah Petlig of strangling his fiancée 

Serina Ann Teigen1 and charged him with second degree assault with domestic 

violence allegations.  A jury convicted him as charged.  Petlig appeals, claiming 

that (1) the trial court erroneously admitted (a) certain statements he made to the 

arresting officer and (b) his jail phone calls, and (2) the State committed 

(a) governmental misconduct and (b) prosecutorial misconduct.  He also submits 

a statement of additional grounds (SAG) and correspondence to this court in 

which he makes a number of claims.  We affirm. 

I. BACKGROUND 

 Petlig and Teigen resided in their recreational vehicle (RV) outside a 

church.  One summer evening, around 7:15 p.m., a passing driver flagged down 

Officer Roger Gale in his patrol vehicle after she witnessed Petlig fall on top of 

Teigen outside the RV, holding her from behind with his arms wrapped around 

                                            
1 An identification card admitted at trial shows that Teigen’s last name now is 

Dick.  But the parties and the Information call her Teigen, so we do as well. 
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her neck.  Officer Gale approached Teigen and Petlig and asked them what 

happened.  Petlig said that he had been trying to “fix some stuff,” he had not 

choked Teigen,2 and he had just been trying to get her to talk to him.  Officer 

Gale decided to separate the two and detained Petlig in the back of his patrol 

vehicle.  Officer Gale then took a statement from Teigen and observed a small 

cut on her neck and a bruise on her arm.  Officer Gale returned to his vehicle, 

and Petlig volunteered that he was bleeding from his arm.  Officer Gale asked 

Petlig how he had been injured.  Petlig stated that he had gotten cut while 

working on the RV.  Medics arrived and attended to Petlig and Teigen.  Medics 

asked Petlig for his name and address. 

After medics finished attending to Petlig, Officer Gale returned to Petlig, 

gave him Miranda3 warnings, and took a statement from him.  In response to 

Officer Gale’s more extensive questioning about the incident, Petlig denied hitting 

Teigen and said that he grabbed her around the shoulders but did not choke her 

or put his hands on her throat.  Officer Gale arrested Petlig. 

 The State charged Petlig with second degree assault with domestic 

violence allegations.  Before trial, the State added four charges of violating a no-

contact order based on phone calls Petlig made to Teigen while in custody.  The 

trial court severed the assault charge from the no-contact charges.  The trial 

court admitted Petlig’s pre-Miranda statements except those made as a part of a 

custodial interview with Officer Gale and medics in the back of the patrol vehicle.  

                                            
2 Officer Gale had not asked whether Petlig had choked Teigen.  It appears from 

the record that Petlig said this with no prompting.   
3 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966). 
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The trial court admitted Petlig’s post-Miranda statements.  A jury convicted Petlig 

as charged.  We discuss additional facts below as necessary. 

II. ANALYSIS 

A. Post-Miranda Statements 

 Petlig claims Officer Gale employed an improper two-step interrogation 

through eliciting statements before and after the Miranda warnings.  He argues 

that the trial court thus erred by admitting his post-warning statements.  The 

State counters that because the officer did not deliberately engage in a two-step 

interview process, the trial court did not err.  We agree with the State.4 

We review for abuse of discretion a trial court’s evidentiary rulings.  State 

v. Filitaula, 184 Wn. App. 819, 824, 339 P.3d 221 (2014).  A trial court abuses its 

discretion by rendering a manifestly unreasonable ruling or basing its decision on 

untenable grounds or reasons.  State v. Andrews, 172 Wn. App. 703, 708, 293 

P.3d 1203 (2013). 

Under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, police must 

provide a suspect with Miranda warnings before questioning.  State v. Rhoden, 

189 Wn. App. 193, 199, 356 P.3d 242 (2015).  Courts must suppress prewarning 

statements made by a suspect in a custodial interrogation conducted by a State 

agent.  Id.   

But federal and state decisions likewise may require suppression of 

postwarning confessions if police procure a prewarning confession from a 

                                            
4 Alternatively, while the parties did not brief the issue, it appears Petlig may have 

waived this argument by not raising it below.   
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defendant in custody, provide Miranda warnings, and then procure another 

confession.  Id. at 200 (citing Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 124 S. Ct. 2601, 

159 L. Ed. 2d 643 (2004)).  Courts call this procedure a “two-step interrogation.”  

See, e.g., Rhoden, 189 Wn. App. at 199–200.   

“[A] court addressing the admissibility of statements obtained during a 

two-step interrogation procedure must first determine whether the interrogating 

officer deliberately used the two-step procedure to undermine the effectiveness 

of Miranda warnings.”  Id. at 200–01.  The inquiry into deliberateness: 

. . . does not require courts to evaluate the subjective intent of the 
interrogator.  Rather, in determining deliberateness, “courts should 
consider whether objective evidence and any available subjective 
evidence, such as an officer’s testimony, support an inference that 
the two-step interrogation procedure was used to undermine the 
Miranda warning.”  “Such objective evidence would include the 
timing, setting, and completeness of the prewarning interrogation, 
the continuity of police personnel and the overlapping content of the 
pre and postwarning statements.” 

Id. at 201 (internal citations omitted) (quoting United States v. Williams, 435 F.3d 

1148, 1158–59 (9th Cir. 2006)). 

In Rhoden, before giving Miranda warnings, police asked the defendant if 

he had any guns or drugs in his home.  189 Wn. App. at 196.  The defendant 

confessed that police could find a small amount of drugs and at least one gun in 

his bedroom.  Id.  Police then took the defendant to another room, gave him 

Miranda warnings, and then asked “pretty much the same questions.”  Id.  The 

defendant admitted that he had about a gram of methamphetamine in his 

bedroom.  Id.  Division Two of this court reasoned that “the objective evidence of 

‘the timing, setting and completeness of the prewarning interrogation, the 



No. 79225-3-I/5 
 

5 

continuity of police personnel and the overlapping content of the pre and 

postwarning statements’ all support[ed] the conclusion that the two-step 

interrogation procedure” was deliberate.  Id. at 202 (quoting Williams, 435 F.3d at 

1159). 

Presumably because Petlig did not raise below the specific issue of the 

two-step interview procedure, the parties and the trial court did not purposefully 

develop the record on the question of deliberateness.  Like the parties, we scan 

the record for pertinent information.   

For this analysis, we assume—as the parties imply in their briefing—that 

the pre- and postwarning interviews in the back of Officer Gale’s patrol vehicle 

constituted custodial interrogations.  Since the two-step interview doctrine applies 

only to statements made in custodial interviews, we consider only statements 

that Petlig made while in custody.  See Rhoden, 189 Wn. App. at 199–200 

(applying the two-step interview doctrine to statements made in custodial 

interrogations).  Indeed, Petlig’s argument on this issue addresses only the 

statements he made while in the back of Officer Gale’s patrol vehicle, and not the 

statements he made before Gale detained him. 

Since Officer Gale conducted both the pre- and postwarning interviews in 

the back of his patrol vehicle, the questionings had continuity of setting and 

personnel.  But as to whether their content overlapped, unlike in Rhoden, Officer 

Gale did not ask substantially the same questions.  In the prewarning custodial 

interrogation, Officer Gale asked Petlig only how he had hurt his arm.  After 

giving warnings, Officer Gale conducted a more complete interview: he asked 
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how Teigen had hurt her arm, whether Petlig had hit her, how Petlig had grabbed 

her, and asked about their relationship.  As to the timing of the interviews, the 

postwarning custodial interrogation took place more than 30 minutes after the 

prewarning custodial interrogation, and not right after as in Rhoden.  And no 

subjective evidence, such as testimony by Officer Gale, suggests that he 

deliberately conducted a two-step interview process.  Given the above, we 

cannot conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting Petlig’s 

postwarning statements. 

B. Jail Phone Calls 

 Petlig argues the trial court erred in playing the jail phone calls to the jury.  

He claims this prejudiced him because it informed the jury that he was 

incarcerated while awaiting trial, and the calls suggested he is a violent and 

mendacious person.  He also argues that other evidence already established that 

he and Teigen were in a relationship, the purported purpose for the admission of 

the calls.5  The State claims Petlig waived these arguments and that if not, the 

trial court properly admitted the calls.  We conclude that a portion of these 

arguments is waived, and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

admitting the calls. 

 1. Waiver  

At trial, Petlig objected to admission of the calls because they implicated 

his custody status.  He makes the same argument on appeal.  Petlig has not 

                                            
5 Since the State accused Petlig of a crime of domestic violence, the existence of 

Petlig and Teigen’s relationship constituted an element of the charged crime.  See 
RCW 10.99.020(6). 
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waived this particular argument.   

But Petlig’s briefing implies that his claims about the calls implicating him 

as a violent and mendacious person rest on ER 404(b) grounds.  Petlig’s trial 

brief moved generally to exclude any prior act evidence under ER 404(b).  And 

Petlig points to a portion of the record where the trial court stated that it would 

consider whether the phone calls raised any ER 404(b) concerns.  But he does 

not point to anything in the record where he made a specific objection to the 

phone calls on ER 404(b) grounds as required by ER 103(a)(1) and RAP 2.5(a), 

and the specific basis for his general objection is not apparent in context.  See 

State v. Walker, 75 Wn. App. 101, 109, 879 P.2d 957 (1994) (an appellate court 

may consider the propriety of a ruling on a general objection if its specific basis is 

apparent in context).  He did not argue to the trial court that the calls paint him as 

a violent or mendacious person.  Petlig now argues that even if he did not object 

below on this ground, the admission of the calls constituted manifest 

constitutional error under the meaning of RAP 2.5(a)(3) since it deprived him off 

his opportunity for a fair trial.  But “[a]n evidentiary error, such as erroneous 

admission of ER 404(b) evidence, is not of constitutional magnitude.”  State v. 

Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 84, 206 P.3d 321 (2009).  Thus, Petlig waived his claim 

that the calls paint him as a violent and mendacious person. 

2. Admission of the jail calls 

Petlig argues that because two of the calls start with an automated 

message stating that the call is coming from a correctional facility, they 

improperly revealed his custodial status to the jury.  Based on this court’s 
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decision in State v. Mullin-Coston,6 we conclude the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion by admitting them.7 

We review for abuse of discretion a trial court’s evidentiary rulings.  

Filitaula, 184 Wn. App. at 824.  A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is 

manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.  Andrews, 

172 Wn. App. at 708. 

Evidence of a defendant’s prior acts is inadmissible to show their 

propensity to commit the charged crime.  State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 744, 

202 P.3d 937 (2009).  But ER 404(b) allows introduction of such evidence when 

                                            
6 115 Wn. App. 679, 693, 64 P.3d 40 (2003). 
7 Even if we considered Petlig’s other claim—that the trial court abused its 

discretion in admitting the calls because they elicit the inference that he is a high-risk, 
violent person, prone to lying—it would fail. 

Petlig specifically points to two calls in support of his claim that the recordings 
suggest that he is a violent and mendacious person and thus were unfairly prejudicial.  
First, he points to a call between him and Teigen in which the two discuss the fact that 
Petlig had not been forthcoming about his previous romantic relationship with a mutual 
friend.  Second, he points to a call in which he stated to Teigen that when the State is 
concerned with a defendant’s capacity for violence—especially in a domestic violence 
case—they will typically put them in jail immediately.  (“[I]f the State was so concerned 
about me being a high violent risk . . . then why did they wait a week and a half to file 
it?”).   

Petlig’s reticence to admit he had a previous relationship with their mutual friend 
could be interpreted as somewhat prejudicial about his tendency to lie.  But more so, the 
conversation shows that Petlig and Teigen considered themselves to be in a 
relationship, since their conversation regards Teigen’s frustration, as Petlig’s current 
partner, that he had not informed her of his previous relationship with their mutual friend.   

As to the other call, Petlig, in making the comment about “high violent risk,” 
appears to be discounting any categorization of himself as such.  And elsewhere in the 
call, the two exchange “I love you,” and Teigen states that “[she will] be better when 
[Petlig] gets home.”  The comment about “high violent risk” is, at most, minimally 
prejudicial, and the rest of the call establishes their relationship. 

While other evidence also established a relationship between Petlig and Teigen, 
the admission of the calls was, at best, minimally prejudicial, and they went towards 
establishing the State’s burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the elements of 
the charged crime.  If considered, we would conclude the trial court did not abuse its 
discretion by admitting either call. 
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the court: (1) finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts actually 

occurred, (2) identifies the purpose of admitting the evidence, (3) determines the 

relevance of the evidence to prove an element of the crime, and (4) weighs the 

probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect.  Id. at 745.   

Although the trial court doubted whether ER 404(b) applied to the calls, it 

still conducted an ER 404(b) analysis.  It found by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the calls occurred, that the purpose of the calls was to show a 

relationship between Petlig and Teigen, that the calls were relevant to that end, 

and that the risk of unfair prejudice did not outweigh the probative value of the 

calls.  Id. 

“[A]lthough references to custody can certainly carry some prejudice, they 

do not carry the same suggestive quality of a defendant shackled to his chair 

during trial.”  Mullin-Coston, 115 Wn. App. at 693.  In Mullin-Coston, this court 

held admission of calls that implicated the defendant’s custody status did not 

prejudice him.  Id. at 693–95.   

Two calls played to the jury began with an automated message stating 

that the person placing the call is an inmate at King County Correctional Facility.  

Both calls are relevant in establishing a relationship between Petlig and Teigen.8  

Petlig does not suggest that these calls were any more prejudicial than the calls 

in Mullin-Coston.  The court in Mullin-Coston rejected the defense’s analogy 

between such calls and visible physical measures of restraint.  Id. at 693–94.  

                                            
8  In the call, Petlig encourages Teigen to tell the court that she wants charges 

dropped and instructs her on use of a shared vehicle.  The two also exchange the 
statement, “I love you.” 
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Petlig points to no decision suggesting that admission of calls that implicate a 

defendant’s custodial status may constitute abuse of discretion.   

Other evidence also establishes a relationship between Petlig and Teigen, 

but the State bears the burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt the 

elements of the assault charge.  And under Mullin-Coston, admission of such 

calls is not necessarily prejudicial.  We conclude that the trial court did not abuse 

its discretion by admitting either call. 

C. Governmental Misconduct 

 Petlig claims the State mismanaged discovery at trial by delaying in 

informing him which jail phone calls it would offer at trial, and by delaying in 

offering a copy of Teigen’s identification (ID) card.  Petlig argues the trial court 

failed to provide an adequate remedy for the government’s mismanagement of 

discovery, such as suppression of the evidence or dismissal of the case.  The 

State argues Petlig has not shown governmental misconduct or prejudice.  We 

conclude that the alleged misconduct did not lead to prejudice. 

If a defendant shows, by a preponderance of the evidence, (1) arbitrary 

action or governmental misconduct that (2) prejudicially affects their rights to a 

fair trial, a court may dismiss their charges.  CrR 8.3(b); State v. Rohrich, 149 

Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2008).  Such dismissal requires a showing of 

actual prejudice.  Id. at 658.  We review a ruling on a motion to dismiss under 

CrR 8.3(b) for manifest abuse of discretion.  State v. Blackwell, 120 Wn.2d 822, 

830, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993).  A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision 

is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.  Id.  
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Under CrR 4.7(a)(1), the State must provide the defendant, prior to the 

omnibus hearing, any recorded statements of the defendant and any documents 

it plans to rely on at trial.  Governmental misconduct includes violation of CrR 4.7 

discovery rules.  State v. Salgado-Mendoza, 189 Wn.2d 420, 433 403 P.3d 45 

(2017).  Possible sanctions for mismanagement of discovery include a 

continuance,9 suppression of the evidence in question,10 and even outright 

dismissal of the charges.11  We review a ruling on a request for any such 

sanction for abuse of discretion.  State v. Ruelas, 7 Wn. App. 2d 887, 896, 436 

P.3d 362 (2019).   

“Delayed disclosure may support a finding of governmental misconduct.  

Misconduct occurs when the prosecutor ‘inexcusably fails to act with due 

diligence,’ resulting in material facts not being disclosed ‘until shortly before a 

crucial stage in the litigation process.’”  Salgado-Mendoza, 189 Wn.2d at 433 

(internal citation omitted) (quoting State v. Price, 94 Wn.2d 810, 814, 620 P.2d 

994 (1980)). 

1. Delayed disclosure of phone calls 

The State provided Petlig with recordings of his jail phone calls in two 

batches in March and May 2018.  In May 2018, Petlig, through his counsel, 

informed the trial court that the State had not yet informed him which calls it 

                                            
9 State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 881, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998) (“[CrR 

violations] are appropriately remedied by continuing trial to give the nonviolating party 
time to interview a new witness or prepare to address new evidence.”). 

10 Id. at 881–82 (“Exclusion or suppression of evidence is an extraordinary 
remedy and should be applied narrowly”). 

11 Id. at 881 (“Where the State’s violation of [CrR 4.7] is serious, mistrial or 
dismissal may be appropriate.”). 
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planned to offer at trial, and claimed the nondisclosure affected his ability to 

prepare for trial.  The State did not so inform Petlig until August 2, 2018, and the 

State played the calls for the jury on August 8, 2018.  After disclosure, Petlig did 

not object on this ground; he did not argue the State had committed misconduct 

by delaying in informing him which calls it would use at trial or argue that the late 

disclosure affected his ability to prepare for trial.  It does not appear Petlig moved 

for any sanction because of the delay; he points to no court ruling on this 

matter.12 

Despite Petlig’s complaint in May that the State had not yet informed him 

which calls it planned to use at trial, the State did not provide this information 

until August 2, six days before trial.  But even if this delay in disclosure 

constituted misconduct, Petlig fails to articulate how the delay caused him 

prejudice.  That Petlig, after disclosure, declined to argue that the delay 

prevented him from adequately preparing for trial also elicits the inference that 

the delay did not cause prejudice.  Thus, the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion by failing to impose the sanctions Petlig now requests. 

2. Delayed disclosure of Teigen’s ID card 

The State originally submitted a version of Teigen’s ID card that named 

her as Serina Ann Dick, and not Serina Ann Teigen, as the Information and 

Amended Information name her.  The State acknowledged its mistake at the time 

of admission and explained that it would seek to also admit a copy that named 

                                            
12 While the parties do not brief this issue, it appears Petlig may have waived this 

claim.  See RAP 2.5.  
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her as Serina Ann Teigen.  The State eventually admitted the proper ID card.  

Petlig moved to dismiss the charges against him because of the late disclosure, 

which motion the trial court denied. 

Although the delay in admitting the proper ID card may not have occurred 

because of the State’s willful misconduct, “governmental misconduct need not be 

of an evil or dishonest nature; simple mismanagement is sufficient.”  Blackwell, 

120 Wn.2d at 831.  But Petlig again fails to show how any claimed misconduct 

led to prejudice.  Petlig and his counsel knew that Teigen and Dick were the 

same person and knew that the State would eventually seek to admit an ID with 

a name that matched the charging documents so that Officer Gale could identify 

Teigen, since she was unlikely to testify. 

Because Petlig fails to articulate, beyond bare assertions, how either claim 

of governmental misconduct prejudiced him, he does not show an abuse of 

discretion by the trial court. 

D. Prosecutorial Misconduct 

 Petlig argues the State committed prosecutorial misconduct before the 

jury by: (1) asking questions suggesting Petlig presented too much of a danger to 

be let out of custody, (2) asking Officer Gale whether he had an interest or 

personal stake in the outcome of the case, (3) making arguments that denigrated 

defense counsel, and (4) trying to shift the burden of proof to Petlig and arguing 

facts not in evidence.  The State argues no prosecutorial misconduct occurred, 

and assuming it did, Petlig did not suffer prejudice.  We reject Petlig’s claims. 
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 To show prosecutorial misconduct, “the defendant must establish ‘that the 

prosecutor’s conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the 

entire record and the circumstances at trial.’”  State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 

438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (quoting State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 189 

P.3d 126 (2008)).  The defendant must prove “‘there is a substantial likelihood 

[that] the instances of misconduct affected the jury’s verdict.’”  Thorgerson, 172 

Wn.2d at 442–43 (alteration in original) (quoting Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 191).  

“The ‘failure to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless 

the remark is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and 

resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the 

jury.’”  Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 443 (quoting State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 

86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)).  Defense counsel’s failure to object to allegedly 

improper remarks made by a prosecutor “strongly suggests to a court that the 

argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to [the 

defendant] in the context of the trial.”  State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53 n.2, 

134 P.3d 221 (2006) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Swan, 

114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)).  “‘Allegations of prosecutorial 

misconduct are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.’”  State v. 

Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) (quoting State v. Brett, 126 

Wn.2d 136, 174–75, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)). 

1. Questions regarding domestic violence calls 

Petlig argues the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by asking 

Officer Gale questions about the relative danger of domestic violence calls since 
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this, along with the jury’s discovery through other means that Petlig was in 

custody awaiting trial, created the impression that Petlig is dangerous.13  Petlig 

objected to a portion of this line of questioning on grounds of relevance, which 

objection the trial court sustained.  But Petlig did not object on grounds of 

prosecutorial misconduct. 

Measures that single out a defendant as particularly dangerous, such as 

physical restraint or shackling, threaten the defendant’s constitutional right to a 

fair trial.  Mullin-Coston, 115 Wn. App. at 692–94.  While the jury knew Petlig was 

in custody and had been charged with a domestic violence offense, Officer Gale 

did not testify about Petlig’s individual dangerousness, only to the danger of 

domestic violence calls in general.  And the State did not ask Officer Gale about 

Petlig’s individual dangerousness.  Petlig has not met his burden of 

demonstrating these questions were either improper or prejudicial.  And he does 

                                            
13 From the State’s examination of Officer Gale: 
[State]: When you are either dispatched or engaged by a citizen to respond 
to a domestic violence crime, do you behave a little bit differently than you 
would with the typical dispatch like to the loose animal situation? 
[Officer Gale]: Traditionally, domestic violence calls are inherently more 
dangerous, not only to the persons involved in the situation, but also to the 
officers.  By definition, domestic violence means it’s a violent situation . . .  
[Objection by Petlig on grounds of relevance and of mischaracterization of 
the law, court sustains the relevance objection.] 
[State]: As far as a domestic violence call is concerned, is this a factor that 
you’re always going to be dealing with as far as a call, such as the amount 
of people that would be involved in a situation for a DV call? 
[Officer Gale]: For it to be a DV call, it would require at least two subjects 
in some kind of verbal or physical confrontation, so we already have two 
people with possibly heightened emotions, and I’m putting myself in the 
middle of that. 
[State]: Gotcha.  And as a police officer, is this part of your calculus when 
you’re entering that kind of situation? 
[Officer Gale]: Yes. 
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not argue that this line of questioning was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that the 

resulting prejudice could not have been alleviated with a curative instruction to 

the jury.  We conclude this did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct.   

2. Questions regarding Officer Gale’s interest in the case 

Petlig argues the State improperly bolstered Officer Gale’s testimony by 

asking the officer whether he had a personal stake or interest in the outcome of 

the trial.14  Petlig objected to this line of questioning on the ground it constituted 

bolstering; the trial court overruled his objection to the State’s final construction of 

this question. 

The State may not bolster an officer’s good character.  State v. Jones, 144 

Wn. App. 284, 293, 183 P.3d 307 (2008) (holding that the State bolstered an 

officer’s good character by referring to his integrity and honesty).  But even if this 

line of questioning constituted improper bolstering of Officer Gale’s honesty, 

Petlig does not attempt meet his burden of showing this error was prejudicial.15  

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petlig’s objection.  

3. Arguments denigrating defense counsel 

Petlig argues that by stating defense counsel mischaracterized the 

                                            
14 The prosecutor asked Officer Gale these questions: “Do you have any 

personal stake in the outcome of this case?” and, “Aside from wanting to do your job 
well, do you have any personal stake in the outcome of this case as to whether or not 
this jury finds [Petlig] guilty?” 

15 We also note that in the cases cited by Petlig regarding bolstering, the State 
made bolstering comments in closing argument, and not, as here, solely in its 
examination of a witness.  See State v. Smith, 67 Wn. App. 838, 841–42, 841 P.2d 76 
(1992); see also Jones, 144 Wn. App. at 292–93. 
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evidence, the State improperly denigrated defense counsel.16  The State argues 

this was not improper, notes that Petlig did not object to it at trial, and thus 

argues he has not shown the statement was so ill-intentioned and flagrant as to 

deprive Petlig of a fair trial.   

“It is improper for the prosecutor to disparagingly comment on defense 

counsel’s role or impugn the defense lawyer’s integrity.”  Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 

at 451.  In Thorgerson, the State repeatedly referred to certain aspects of 

defense counsel’s argument as “bogus” and “sleight of hand.”  Id. at 451-52.  Our 

Supreme Court concluded this constituted ill-intentioned misconduct but declined 

to reverse because a curative instruction would have alleviated any prejudicial 

effect of the statements.  Id. at 452.  As in Thorgerson, Petlig made no objection 

on this ground.  Assuming the State’s conduct here likewise constituted ill-

intentioned misconduct, the trial court could have also alleviated the prejudicial 

effect of the State’s single offhand comment that defense counsel 

mischaracterized the evidence with a curative instruction.  We reject this claim. 

4. Shifting the burden of proof to Petlig, arguing facts not in evidence 

Petlig argues that when the State claimed in its closing rebuttal argument 

that the reason the jury had not heard from the paramedics was because Teigen 

did not sign a waiver, it improperly shifted the burden of proof and argued facts 

not in evidence.  Petlig objected to this at trial. 

                                            
16 During closing argument, the prosecutor said, “I can’t address every 

mischaracterization of the evidence that [defense counsel] discussed with you.” 
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A prosecutor cannot argue facts not in evidence.  State v. Perez-Mejia, 

134 Wn. App. 907, 916, 143 P.3d 838 (2006).  But before the State mentioned 

that Teigen had not signed a medical waiver, Officer Gale testified as such, so 

the facts were in evidence.  Thus, the State did not shift the burden of proof to 

Petlig.  We conclude this argument was not improper and that the trial court did 

not abuse its discretion in overruling Petlig’s objection. 

E. Cumulative Error 

 Petlig argues the cumulative effect of the errors in his case require 

reversal of his conviction and a new trial.  “The cumulative error doctrine applies 

only when several trial errors occurred which, standing alone, may not be 

sufficient to justify a reversal, but when combined together, may deny a 

defendant a fair trial.”  State v. Hodges, 118 Wn. App. 668, 673–74, 77 P.3d 375 

(2003).  Petlig identifies only one possibly prejudicial error—the State’s 

denigration of defense counsel.  And as discussed above, this error does not 

warrant reversal.  His cumulative error claim fails.17  

F. SAG and Correspondence with the Court 

 In his SAG, Petlig raises three issues related to the fact that Teigen did 

not testify at trial.  Separately, in correspondence filed with our court, he claims 

the State did not provide him with Brady18 material and makes more 

confrontation clause claims.  None of these claims warrant reversal. 

                                            
17 The State also argues that if admission of Petlig’s jail calls and late admission 

of Teigen’s ID card constituted error, the errors were harmless.  But since these did not 
constitute prejudicial error, we do not reach the issue of harmless error. 

18 Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). 



No. 79225-3-I/19 
 

19 

1. SAG 

First, Petlig points to a pretrial discussion between court and counsel 

about a transcript of a conversation between Teigen and a victim advocate.  The 

State represented that nothing in the conversation qualified as exculpatory to 

trigger a Brady obligation to share it with the defense.  From such, Petlig argues 

that CrR 4.7 requires the State to share not only exculpatory material with the 

defendant, but a broad range of other material as well.  Petlig does not explain 

which material the State should have shared with him and makes no citation to 

legal authority in support of his argument.  We need not consider argument made 

without citation to legal authority.  See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 

118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (arguments not supported by legal 

authority need not be considered).   

Next, Petlig argues that because Teigen did not testify, any evidence 

about her constitutes inadmissible hearsay and the court should suppress it.  He 

claims that the only instance in which the hearsay rule allows admission of such 

evidence is when the victim is deceased.  None of the legal authorities cited by 

Petlig establishes that we must suppress all evidence related to Teigen because 

she did not testify.  And Petlig makes no argument about any specific admitted 

evidence.   

Finally, Petlig argues the State improperly bolstered Teigen’s testimony by 

stating to the trial court in an in camera discussion that Teigen’s conversation 

with the victim advocate gave him no reason to doubt her credibility.  But the 

State was referring to its obligations to share any exculpatory material, Petlig 



No. 79225-3-I/20 
 

20 

does not show a point in the record where the State bolstered Teigen in the 

presence of the jury, and Teigen did not testify.  Nor does Petlig’s discussion of 

this claim mention legal authority.  See Cowiche, 118 Wn.2d at 809.  We need 

not consider it. 

The issues raised in Petlig’s SAG do not warrant reversal. 

2. Correspondence with the court  

We do not typically consider an argument unless the defendant submits it 

in briefing or a SAG.  RAP 10.1, 10.7, 10.10.  But even if we treat these 

arguments as part of Petlig’s SAG, they do not warrant reversal. 

 Before trial, Petlig sent a letter to our court.  In it, he claimed the State had 

shared no Brady material with him, and that the State acted vindictively and 

committed misconduct.  As to Petlig’s first claim, he does not specifically assert 

which evidence the State should have shared with him.  And we are “not 

obligated to search the record in support of claims made in a defendant/ 

appellant’s [SAG].”  State v. O’Connor, 155 Wn. App. 282, 293, 229 P.3d 880 

(2010).  And as to his second argument, he submits only a handwritten “copy” of 

email correspondence between the State and his trial counsel to support his 

claim of vindictiveness.  But on direct appeal, we cannot consider allegations 

resting on matters outside the record.  See State v. Kinzle, 181 Wn. App. 774, 

786, 326 P.3d 870 (2014).  

 After trial but before sentencing, Petlig sent another series of letters to our 

court.  In them, he makes numerous citations to legal authority, but only these 

claims connect law to fact in a discernible manner: (1) admission of any of 
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Teigen’s statements violates the confrontation clause and due process clause; 

(2) the trial court violated his right to a speedy trial, and (3) that the State 

fabricated evidence by coaching a witness into showing that Petlig grabbed 

Teigen with a chokehold.  As to his first claim, he does not take issue with any 

specific admission, and we need not search the record in support of claims he 

makes.  See O’Connor, 155 Wn. App. at 293.  Nor does he cite the record in 

support of his second claim and, again, we need not search the record in support 

of it.  Id.  And finally, Petlig offers no factual support for his claim that the State 

fabricated evidence.   

 We affirm. 
  

 

WE CONCUR:  
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